SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Petitioner,

v.

BART A. ROWLEY,

Respondent.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

James P. Mills Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 36978 Office No. 91040 1250 Pacific Avenue, Suite 105 Tacoma WA 98402 (253) 597-389

I. INTRODUCTION

In a case involving an injured worker who crashed his truck while driving impaired on methamphetamine, the Court of Appeals made a fundamental mistake regarding the burden of proof in a workers' compensation case that threatens to obviate 80 years of precedence by this Court. Since 1933, this Court in numerous decisions has emphasized that one who has appealed a decision of the Department bears the burden of establishing that the Department's decision was erroneous, and has emphasized that workers appealing such orders are held to "strict proof of their right to receive benefits." The Legislature enshrined this longstanding principle into statute in 1975: it directs that a party appealing a Department order has "the burden of proceeding with the evidence to establish a prima facie case for the relief sought in such an appeal." RCW 51.52.050; Laws of 1975, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 58, §1.

Turning the controlling authority upside down, the Court of Appeals mistakenly held that the Department has the burden to show that its order is correct when the Department denied a worker benefits under RCW 51.32.020 because the worker was in the course of committing a felony at the time of his injury. This decision conflicts with this Court's many decisions placing the burden on the appealing party. Determining who bears the burden of proof and what the standard of proof is in a

workers' compensation case presents an issue of substantial public interest because these issues affect the multitude of workers' compensation appeals yearly. Furthermore, the logic of the Court of Appeals' decision here is not limited to cases involving workers who are injured while committing felonies, but may be extended to any case where the Department denies a worker benefits based on a statutory bar.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION

The Department petitions for review of the published decision of Division One of the Court of Appeals, *Department of Labor & Industries* v. *Rowley*, __ Wn. App. __, 340 P.3d 929 (2014), filed December 22, 2014 (copy attached), reconsideration denied on February 4, 2015.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. RCW 51.52.050 provides that a party appealing a Department order bears "the burden of proceeding with the evidence to establish a prima facie case for the relief sought in such an appeal." Does Rowley bear the burden to show by a preponderance of the evidence at the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals that his injury did not occur while in the commission of a felony?
- 2. Assuming the burden was on the Department, does the normal civil standard of preponderance of the evidence apply?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Rowley Possessed Methamphetamine When He Was Involved In a Motor Vehicle Accident

While driving with methamphetamine in his system, Rowley was severely injured when he drove his truck-trailer off an overpass on north-bound 599. CP 791-818, 641-42, 987-88. The truck veered off the straight and level road at full speed and landed on the roadway below the overpass. CP 744, 989. Rowley was taken to Harborview Hospital in Seattle, where he was attended to by medical staff. CP 737-38.

Officer Donevan Dexheimer, a trained drug recognition officer, was sent to the hospital because Rowley was suspected of being under the influence of an illicit substance. CP 718-33, 732. State Patrol also dispatched Troopers Nicholas King and David Roberts to respond to the accident and conduct an investigation. CP 499-501, 984-85.

When Officer Dexheimer arrived Nurse Jennifer Compton told him that Rowley had a "surprise" in his pocket when he had arrived in the emergency room—a baggie with a smiley face containing off-white granules. CP 737, 744-47. Rowley's clothes had been removed and most of the contents found in the baggie had been dumped into the sink. CP 906, 923. Rowley's clothes and the baggie had been placed in a trash bag in the hallway. CP 744. Nurse Mary Comstock took Officer Dexheimer to

the trash where Rowley's clothes and the baggie had been taken. CP 760-61. Nurse Comstock retrieved the baggie with the smiley face and gave it to Officer Dexheimer. CP 761. Officer Dexheimer examined the substance in the bag and determined that the substance in the baggie appeared to be methamphetamine: it was packed in a one-inch square baggie—the most common way to package illicit drugs; the residual in the bag were granules, the type of crystals typical of methamphetamine; and, the coloration was off-white—typical of methamphetamine. CP 745.

When he arrived to conduct the investigation, Trooper King field-tested the substance in the baggie using a commercial testing kit, and it tested positive for methamphetamine. CP 527. The baggie, and any laboratory tests that may have been performed, were not submitted at the Board hearing. Trooper King submitted it to the State Patrol's evidence system, but he could not say what happened to baggie. CP 517-18.

As part of the investigation, Officer Dexheimer also had Rowley's blood drawn and taken to the state laboratory for testing. CP 749-50. Brian Capron, a forensic specialist employed by the Washington State Toxicology Laboratory, testified that Rowley had a high amount of methamphetamine in his blood the day of his accident. CP 791-818.

Because the industrial injury occurred while Rowley committed the felony of possession of methamphetamine, a controlled substance in

violation of RCW 69.50.4013, the Department rejected Rowley's claim by an October 27, 2008 order. *See* CP 16, 242. The order specifically stated that the basis for the rejection was RCW 51.32.020. CP 275. Rowley protested the order. CP 69. The Department affirmed that order on January 13, 2009. CP 69. Rowley appealed to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. CP 76-77.

B. Although Aware of RCW 51.52.050, the Board Placed the Burden of Proof on the Department

At the Board, Rowley presented his case-in-chief to prove entitlement to benefits. Rowley's testimony as to what occurred at the time of his injury was minimal, as he could not remember any of the events that had occurred during a period of time ranging from one week before the accident to 40 days after the accident. CP 647-48. He did testify that to the best of his knowledge that he had random urine tests and had never tested positive for drugs before the day of the accident. CP 649-50. However, on cross-examination he admitted he never saw any medical records related to the drug tests on the day of the accident and did not actually know whether he tested positive in the hospital. CP 656.

After Rowley rested his case, the Department presented Officer Dexheimer, Trooper King, Trooper Roberts, Nurse Compton, Nurse Comstock, and the state toxicologist specialist, Brian Capron. CP 63-68.

Applying the preponderance of the evidence standard, the industrial appeals judge issued a proposed decision and order that determined that the evidence did not "establish that Mr. Rowley's injury resulted from the *deliberate intention* of Mr. Rowley himself while he was engaged in the attempt to commit, or in the commission of a, felony." CP 69-70 (emphasis added). The Department filed a petition for review, noting that the law does not require the Department to establish that the worker specifically *intended* to commit a felony at the time of the injury.

The Board granted review. The Board issued a decision and order with three separate opinions. CP 11-19. The three-member Board agreed that the law did not require a criminal conviction during the commission of a crime. CP 13-14. However, the Board shifted the burden of proof to the Department, and it applied a higher standard of proof. CP 15. Of the three members, none applied the identical standard of proof. CP 15-19. One applied the clear, cogent, and convincing standard. CP 14. Another member signed the "majority" opinion, but then wrote a concurring opinion applying the standard of proof of beyond a reasonable doubt. CP 17-18. The third member dissented and argued that the preponderance of the evidence applied and that there was ample evidence to support either by preponderance or by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence that Rowley was in the possession of methamphetamine. CP 18-19. Ultimately, the

Board applied the clear, cogent, and convincing evidence standard and reversed the Department order. CP 14.

The Board further decided that RCW 51.32.020 did not give the Department the authority to reject Rowley's claim. CP 13. Lastly, the Board created a bar to presenting evidence of possession without a confirming laboratory test. CP 16.

C. The Superior Court and Court of Appeals Rejected the Argument That RCW 51.52.050 Placed the Burden of Proof on Rowley at the Board

The Department appealed to Pierce County Superior Court. The Department argued that RCW 51.52.050 placed the burden of proof on Rowley at the Board and that the clear, cogent, and convincing standard did not apply. CP 1040-46. The superior court affirmed the Board, adopting findings of fact and conclusions of law consistent with the Board's findings of fact and conclusions of law. CP 1182-85.

The Department appealed to the Court of Appeals. The Department argued again that RCW 51.52.050 and Supreme Court case law place the burden of proof on party appealing the Department order. App. Br. 19-24. The Department also argued that the normal civil standard of proof applied, not clear, cogent, and convincing evidence. App. Br. 26-30. Division One rejected these arguments and affirmed the superior court in part and reversed in part. *Rowley*, 340 P.3d at 931. The Court of Appeals

believed that the Department had the burden to show by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence that Rowley committed a felony. It likened RCW 51.32.020 to an affirmative defense. *Id.* It disagreed with the superior court that the Department had to provide a confirming laboratory test to show possession of a controlled substance and remanded to determine whether the Department had proven that Rowley committed a felony. *Id.* at 936.¹ Rowley moved for reconsideration, which the Court of Appeals denied on February 4, 2015.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The Department denied Rowley industrial insurance benefits because he was committing a felony at the time that he was injured. RCW 51.32.020 precludes a claimant who was injured while committing a felony from receiving benefits:

If an injury or death results to a worker from the deliberate intention of the worker himself or herself to produce such injury or death, or while the worker is engaged in the attempt to commit, or the commission, of a felony, neither the worker nor the widow, widower, child, or dependent of the worker shall receive any payment under this title.

(Emphasis added.)

For the first time in industrial insurance law, the Court of Appeals

¹ Although it applies the incorrect burden and standard of proof, the Court of Appeals was correct when it concluded that the matter should be remanded for consideration of whether the Department can establish the identity of a controlled substance without a confirming laboratory test; it was also correct that the Department has the authority to reject claims under RCW 51.32.020. *Rowley*, 340 P.3d at 936-37.

places the burden of proof on the Department to show that its decision to deny benefits was correct. While the Legislature places the initial burden of proof on the Department in willful misrepresentation cases, for all other cases it places the burden on the appealing party. RCW 51.52.050(2)(a), (c). This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because not only does the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with RCW 51.52.050's mandate, it conflicts with many decisions that require a claimant to prove entitlement to benefits based on a claim that the Department order is incorrect. Zoff v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 174 Wash. 585, 586, 25 P.2d 972 (1933); Kirk v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 192 Wash. 671, 674, 74 P.2d 227 (1937); Guiles v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 13 Wn.2d 605, 610, 126 P.2d 195 (1942); Hastings v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 24 Wn.2d 1, 5, 163 P.2d 142 (1945); Olympia Brewing Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 34 Wn.2d 498, 505, 208 P.2d 1181 (1949), overruled on other grounds by Windust v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 52 Wn.2d 33, 323 P.2d 241 (1958); Cyr v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 47 Wn.2d 92, 97, 286 P.2d 1038 (1955); Lightle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 68 Wn.2d 507, 510, 413 P.2d 814 (1966); Mercer v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 74 Wn.2d 96, 101, 442 P.2d 1000 (1986).

Furthermore the decision reached this incorrect result by creating a novel rule with no support in the case law or the relevant statutes: under the decision, the burden of proof is on the Department when it denies ben-

efits based on a statute that does not "negate" a "necessary" element of a compensable claim, while the burden is on the appealing party if a statute "negates" such an element. *Rowley*, 340 P.3d at 933-34, 936. This novel rule creates uncertainty for the Department, employers, and workers about who has the burden of proof for a host of statutes contained in Title 51, as the distinction between statutes that "negate" elements and those that do not is one that the Court of Appeals created out of whole cloth. Such a significant change is question of substantial public interest that should be resolved by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Conflicts with 80 Years of Supreme Court Case Law Placing the Burden on the Claimant to Show a Department Order Is Incorrect

It is a fundamental tenant of workers' compensation law that the burden is on the party appealing a Department order to prove it is incorrect. RCW 51.52.050(2)(a). RCW 51.52.050(2)(a) provides for a Board appeal "[w]henever the department has taken *any* action or made *any* decision relating to any phase of administration of this title. . . ." (emphasis added). "In an appeal before the board, the appellant shall have the burden of proceeding with the evidence to establish *a prima facie case for the relief sought in such appeal.*" RCW 51.52.050(2)(a) (emphasis added). The Legislature adopted this longstanding principle from case law

in its original form in 1975. Laws of 1975, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 58, §1.² In 1987, the Legislature added a provision in willful misrepresentation cases that requires the Department to "initially introduce all evidence in its case in chief." Laws of 1987, ch. 151 §1; RCW 51.52.050(2)(c). The statutory scheme shows that the Legislature intended to hold the worker to the burden of proof in all cases except when the Department alleges benefits were received through willful misrepresentation. The Legislature did not provide for such burden shifting provisions with respect to RCW 51.32.020 and the absence of any provision requiring the departure from RCW 51.52.050(2)(a) shows the Legislature did not intend such a result. See In re Detention of Williams, 147 Wn.2d 476, 491, 55 P.3d 597 (2002).

Court has held that appealing claimants must prove the Department order incorrect and it has held them to strict proof of their right to receive their requested relief. *Zoff*, 174 Wash. at 586 ("The decision of the department was prima facie correct, and the burden was upon the one attacking that decision to overcome the same by evidence."); *Kirk*, 192 Wash. at 674 ("Persons entitled to the benefits of the act should be favored by a liberal

² The original statute read: "[w]henever the department has taken any action or made any decision relating to any phase of the administration of this title the workman, beneficiary, employer, or other person aggrieved thereby may appeal to the board and said appellant shall have the burden of proceeding with the evidence to establish a prima facie case for the relief sought in such an appeal." (emphasis added).

interpretation of its provisions, but for this very reason they should be held to strict proof of their title as beneficiaries." (quotation omitted)); Guiles, 13 Wn.2d at 610 ("We are mindful of the rule that the burden rests on claimant to prove every element of his claim by a preponderance of the evidence."); Hastings, 24 Wn.2d at 5 ("The first rule is that the decision of the department is prima facie correct and the burden of proof is upon the party attacking the decision."); Olympia Brewing Co., 34 Wn.2d at 505 ("We have again and again declared that, while the act should be liberally construed in favor of those who come within its terms, persons who claim rights thereunder should be held to strict proof of their right to receive the benefits provided by the act."); Cyr, 47 Wn.2d at 97 ("persons who claim rights thereunder should be held to strict proof of their right to receive the benefits provided by the act." (quotation omitted)); Lightle, 68 Wn.2d at 510 ("We have held that a liberal construction of the act does not dispose of the requirement that a claimant must prove his claim by competent evidence."); Mercer, 74 Wn.2d at 101 (claimant must make a "prima facie case").

The Court of Appeals' decision introduces the idea that there are "necessary" elements to an industrial insurance claim—thus, creating an artificial distinction between those that are "necessary" and those that are not. *Rowley*, 340 P.3d at 935-36. The decision provides that if a statute precludes a worker from receiving benefits by negating a *necessary* element

of a compensable claim, then the burden of proof is on the appealing party. Conversely, if the statute expressly precludes a worker from receiving benefits but it does not negate the existence of a "necessary" element of a claim, then the burden of proof is on the Department. Neither the Industrial Insurance Act, nor the case law that has grown up around the proper interpretation of it, provides any foundation for the idea that some statutory bars to receiving benefits relate to an "necessary" element while others do not, nor is there any support for the idea that this distinction determines whether the burden of proof is on the Department or an appealing party. ³

The decision likens RCW 51.32.020's statutory ban on benefits to an "affirmative defense". However, this analogy is inapt: the Department is the only entity with original jurisdiction to adjudicate workers' compensation claims. See RCW 51.04.010, .020; Marley v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 125 Wn.2d 533, 539-40, 886 P.2d 189 (1994); see also Matthews v. Dep't of Labor & Industries, 171 Wn. App. 477, 491, n. 12, 288 P.3d 630 (2012). When it issues an order that finds a worker ineligible for benefits based on a statute, it is not asserting an affirmative defense, it is adjudicating the worker's entitlement or non-entitlement to benefits under the Act. RCW

³ The Court of Appeals cites to Asplundh Tree Expert Co. v. Department of Labor & Industries, 145 Wn. App. 52, 61, 185 P.3d 646 (2008), to support its theory regarding affirmative defenses. This is not an Industrial Insurance Act case but one under RCW 49.17. RCW 49.17.120(5)(a) sets forth a separate statutory defense that defeats the finding of WISHA violation if there is unpreventable employee misconduct and unequivocally places the burden on the employer to make such a showing.

51.52.050 establishes that the appealing party has the burden to show "a prima facie case for the relief sought in such appeal", namely an appeal of "any action or . . . any decision relating to any phase of administration of this title." This does not parse out actions subject to an affirmative defense and actions not subject to one, rather it is "any action".

In fact, in cases involving the suicide bar, also found in RCW 51.32.020, the Court has recognized that a claimant must show that the suicide bar does not apply. *Mercer*, 74 Wn.2d at 101; *see Willoughby v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 147 Wn.2d 725, 733, n. 5, 57 P.3d 611 (2002) ("A finding of a compensable injury includes a determination that the injury was not self-inflicted. *See* RCW 51.32.020."). It is part of the claimant's proof, like proving causation. *See Schwab v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 76 Wn.2d 784, 791-92, 653 P.2d 1350 (1969) ("Rather it appears that we have inclined more toward looking upon RCW 51.32.020 as erecting a statutory bar between cause and a proximately related result.").

In *Mercer*, this Court affirmed the trial court's dismissal based on the claimant's failure to establish a prima facie showing that RCW 51.32.020 did not bar relief because she did not establish by competent medical evidence that the decedent acted under an incontrollable impulse. *Mercer*,

74 Wn.2d at 101.⁴ Under *Mercer*, *Willoughby*, and *Schwab* where the Department determines that a worker is ineligible to receive benefits under RCW 51.32.020, the claimant must prove that the Department erred.⁵

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