RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Apr 08, 2015, 2:34 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 91357-9

E E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Petitioner,

۷.

BART A. ROWLEY, SR.,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 241 Madison Ave. North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 Attorney for Respondent

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

The Board agreed with the IAJ's assessment of the facts. CP 16 (*see* App. B). It could not determine what was in the alleged bag. *Id.* It also found significant problems with the "chain of custody." *Id.* The Board thus could not "find that [Rowley] actually possessed methamphetamine in his truck based on the scant evidence presented." *Id.* These findings too are well supported.

Specifically, in addition to the weaknesses in the nurses' testimony discussed above, the Board also questioned Officer Dexheimer's testimony. *Id.* A Kent police officer trained as a DRE, Dexheimer talked at length about his training in a 12-step process for detecting drug influences, but then conceded that he could not use that process here because Rowley was unconscious. CP 718-30, 736-37. He could not get "a whole lot of information" from Rowley just by looking at him lying there. CP 737. He also admitted that the more limited his evaluation, the less reliable his results. CP 771.

According to Dexheimer, some nurse – he did not know which one – told him that Rowley had a "surprise" in his pocket on arrival. CP 736-37, 759-60, 761. He later suggested that Nurse Comstock

found the bag in Rowley's pocket, but she denied that. *Compare* CP 761 *with* CP 921-22. He said the bag was found in the trash "out in the hallway," but Nurse Comstock testified that it was in a different room and that a great deal of "negotiation" went on – perhaps for hours – to get at it. *Compare* CP 744 *with* CP 905-07, 926. Unlike Nurse Comstock, Officer Dexheimer did not recall it having any smiley faces or other "logos" on it. CP 744.

The bag had "the residual called granules or crystal, type of a crystalling [*sic*] substance that looked to me like methamphetamine." CP 744-45. When asked why he thought that, he said "the way it's packaged" and it did not look like cocaine. CP 775. He did not explain whether or how one can identify methamphetamine just by looking at it. *Id.* He also did not test the substance. CP 766. And even though Nurse Comstock said that someone washed the contents of the bag down the sink, there was no water in the bag that Dexheimer said he received. CP 767, 923.

Officer Dexheimer did check Rowley's pulse rate, which was "normal"; but he nonetheless concluded that it "would be consistent with" reactions to a large variety of drugs because Rowley was given morphine and valium. CP 741-42. He did not explain how to distinguish this reaction from a normal heart rate, or simply from a

person suffering severe trauma. Id. He did not even know Rowley's

"normal" heart rate. CP 762.

When asked for his opinion on whether Rowley was impaired,

Officer Dexheimer forthrightly testified that he could not properly render a professional opinion (CP 751):

I cannot form an opinion because I did not do enough of the evaluation. I can say that some of the things that I saw and learned of were consistent with a person under the influence of, in this case, seeing the stimulants [*sic*]. Like I said, I didn't do a full evaluation. I can't give you a professional opinion about that.

He nonetheless expressed his "suspicions" at length, but the IAJ struck that testimony. CP 751-53. To leading questions, he answered that just Rowley's pulse being "high" (which he actually testified was "normal") and the "baggie" were enough for him to "form a suspicion that he was probably under the influence." CP 753. But he admitted that the nature of the accident alone was not enough to conclude that Rowley was "impaired." CP 753-54.

Yet Dexheimer assented to the Department's leading, conclusory assertion that "more likely than not" the accident occurred because Rowley was under the influence. CP 754. When asked whether cross had changed this opinion, he testified (CP 770-71):

Yes. I mean no. I believe that's the case.

Although Rowley was unconscious, Dexheimer arrested him for DUI – a misdemeanor – and read him a "special evidence" warning.³ CP 747, 763-64, 769, 773. Dexheimer admitted that when an unconscious individual's blood is drawn, he is entitled to an independent toxicological review of the samples. CP 764-65. Dexheimer further admitted that taking a sample in this manner is authorized when someone other than the driver suffers serious bodily injury, but here, no one but Rowley was so injured. CP 765.

Dexheimer gave the sample and the bag to Nicholas King, a Washington State Patrol officer. CP 749, 766. Trooper King had no independent recollection of this case. CP 945. Reading his own documentation did not refresh his recollection. *Id*.

King testified that Dexheimer gave him the blood vials, "as well as, apparently, a small baggie of crystal substance, which was determined to be ecstasy, methamphetamine." CP 948. Trooper King did not explain how it could be both. *Id.* He later cryptically mentioned that it was "field tested positive for methamphetamine," but when Rowley's counsel objected and sought a *Frye* hearing on this, the Department dropped the testimony. CP 955. The

³ Although Dexheimer swore that he read Rowley "the implied consent warning" at CP 747, he denied doing so at CP 769.

Department later "reopened" to ask about the test, but Trooper King again did not explain the reliability of the test. CP 969, 972-74. He did not explain how the substance could test as "ecstasy or methamphetamine" if the test was reliable. *Id*. He also did not explain why he thought it was one, rather than the other. *Id*.

Trooper King misspelled Rowley's name as "Rawley" on the blood vials. CP 953. He also put the wrong number on the property disposition form. CP 954. He also misidentified the time as 2:30 a.m., rather than the actual time, 2:30 p.m. CP 954-55. The bag disappeared, and was never tested at the lab. CP 973-74.

D. The trial court agreed with the Board.

On review, the trial court made the two Findings that the Department challenged below (CP 1183 – see App. C):

1.4 Mr. Rowley was not engaged in the attempt to commit or the commission of a felony when he was injured on August 14, 2008.

1.5 The Board correctly determined that absent a confirming laboratory test the Department did not prove that the white substance in the baggie, found in Mr. Rowley's clothes, was methamphetamine.

Based on these (and the unchallenged) Findings, the trial court concluded that the "Board's January 30, 2012 Order is correct and is affirmed," entering several Conclusions of Law discussed *infra*. CP 1184. It also awarded Rowley fees and costs under RCW 51.52.130.

E. The appellate court affirmed as to the burden and standard of proof, but erroneously reversed because it (a) misinterpreted the trial court's finding and conclusion regarding a confirming lab test, and (b) misinterpreted the felony payment statute.

The appellate court affirmed as to the burden and standard of proof, but erroneously reversed because it misinterpreted the trial court's finding and conclusion regarding a confirming lab test. First, liberally construing the IIA – as it must – to ensure compensation to covered workers, the Board correctly placed the burden to prove a felony on the Department where, as here, the worker meets his burden to prove a right to compensation by showing he was injured in the course of his employment. Opinion at ¶¶ 13, 14 & 20 (App. D). In short, "[p]roof that an industrial injury occurred during the commission of a felony does not negate any element of an industrial insurance claim," so "the trial court properly treated the felony payment bar as an affirmative defense to be proved by the Department." *Id.* at ¶ 20.

Second, the appellate court held that the Board made a correct policy decision to require clear, cogent, and convincing evidence of a felony. *Id.* at ¶¶ 22, 24 & 26. It held that the trial court properly deferred to the agency's persuasive justification for requiring this standard of proof. *Id.* at ¶¶ 25, 26. In short, the

"consequences of a finding of felony commission are punitive and sufficiently analogous to cases of willful misrepresentation to require the heightened standard of proof." *Id.* at \P 24-26.

Third,⁴ the appellate court apparently misinterpreted the trial court's ruling that "absent a confirming laboratory test the Department did not prove the white substance in the baggie . . . was methamphetamine." *Id.* at ¶¶ 32, 33 (addressing CP 1184, C/L 2.3.c.). The appellate court appears to have concluded that the trial court erred as a matter of law. *Id.* But the trial court's conclusion merely repeats its Finding 1.5 (CP 1183) that *absent* a confirming laboratory test, the Department *did not prove* that the substance in the baggie was meth. CP 1183-84. This a mere statement of fact: the Department's evidence does not satisfy the burden of proof. As such, it is subject to review only for substantial evidence. As noted above, the IAJ found that the Department's bootstrapping and innuendo were insufficient to meet even a preponderance of the evidence

⁴ The appellate court rejected Rowley's cross-appeal arguments, which he does not re-raise in this Court. Opinion at ¶¶ 29-31.

standard. App. A, CP 69, line 20. The appellate court simply applied the wrong standard of review.⁵

Finally, the appellate court also misinterpreted the felonypayment-bar statute. Opinion at ¶¶ 34-38. The Board had correctly concluded that the "Department cannot reject a claim under the felony provision of RCW 51.32.020," where the statute says that when the felony payment bar applies, the worker and his family shall not "receive any payment under this title." RCW 51.32.020; App. B, CP 13, 15, 16. This plain language does not empower the Department to deny a claim, but only to withhold payments. And this plain reading is consistent with the decisions of every tribunal that Rowley proved his right to benefits by showing an injury in the course of his employment, so the Department must bear the burden to prove a felony if it wishes deny him those benefits. The Board properly construed this plain language to ensure coverage, but the appellate court failed to do so.⁶

⁵ Mr. Rowley does not seek independent review of this error (see RAP 13.4(d)), but reserves his right to argue for the correct standard of review if this Court grants review.

⁶ Again, Mr. Rowley does not seek independent review of this error, but reserves his right to argue proper statutory construction should this Court grant review.

REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

A. Every tribunal has correctly determined that the Department bears the burden of proof – and no decision of this Court holds to the contrary.

As explained above, every tribunal to consider this action has determined that after Rowley established an injury in the course of his employment – thus proving his prima facie entitlement to benefits – the Department then bore the burden to prove he committed a felony in order to deny him those benefits. This Court has never held to the contrary. The Court should deny review.

Despite the obvious fact that this Court has never addressed this issue – much less issued a decision contrary to the appeilate court's decision – the Department claims that it conflicts with "80 years" of this Court's precedents. Petition at 10-16. The Department cites no fewer than 13 opinions of this Court. *Id.* Not one of them stands for the proposition asserted by the Department.

Without analyzing each of those inapposite decisions, it should suffice to note the fallacy upon which the Department bases its erroneous argument for review. As the Department quotes, RCW 51.52.050(2)(a) says that in "an appeal before the board, the appellant shall have the burden of proceeding with the evidence to establish a prima facie case for the relief sought in such appeal."

Petition at 10. Here, the "relief sought" is IIA benefits, and the "prima facie case" for that relief is proving injury in the course of employment. See, e.g., Opinion at ¶¶ 13, 14 (citing RCW 51.52.050(2)(a); WAC 263-12-115(2); *Knight v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 181 Wn. App. 788, 795-96, 321 P.3d 1275, *rev. denied*, 181 Wn.2d 1023 (2014)). Even the Department does not claim that Rowley failed to prove an injury in the course of his employment. Opinion at ¶ 14.

The Department's faulty premise is that Rowley must show something more than a prima facie right to benefits. No authority supports this claim, and the Department's cited cases merely confirm Rowley's duty to prove a prima facie right to benefits. *See* Petition at 11-12 (citing numerous cases). The Department's apparent claim that Rowley should bear the nearly insurmountable burden to prove a negative – that he did *not* commit a felony – flies directly in the face of a great deal of authority requiring our courts to liberally construe the IIA so as to ensure worker benefits, "with doubts resolved in favor of the worker." Opinion at ¶ 12 (citing *Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 109 Wn.2d 467, 470, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987)).

The Department misstates the appellate Opinion by implying that it talks about "necessary" elements. Petition at 12-13. Rather,

the Opinion simply says that "[p]roof that an industrial injury occurred during the commission of a felony does not negate any element of an industrial insurance claim," so "the trial court properly treated the felony payment bar as an affirmative defense to be proved by the Department." Opinion at ¶ 20. This is correct because courts generally "treat a statutory exception as an affirmative defense to be proved by the party asserting it 'unless the statute reflects legislative intent to treat proof of the absence of the exception as one of the elements of a cause of action, or the exception operates to negate an element of the action.'" *Id.* at ¶ 19 & n.14 (citing *Asplundh Tree Expert Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 145 Wn. App. 52, 61, 185 P.3d 646 (2008)).⁷

Finally, the Departments misses the mark with its arguments about the suicide and victims compensation cases, *Mercer v. Dep't* of Labor & Indus., 74 Wn.2d 96, 442 P.2d 1000 (1968); *Willoughby* v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 147 Wn.2d 725, 57 P.3d 611 (2002); Schwab v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 76 Wn.2d 784, 459 P.2d 1 (1969); and Stafford v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 33 Wn. App. 231,

⁷ The Department's attempt to distinguish *Asplundh* in a footnote (Petition at 13 n.3) misses the point: this is a *general rule*, so the appellate court was not stating our implying that *Asplundh* was directly controlling.

653 P.2d 1350 (1982). Petition at 13-15. As the appellate court noted, the issue in suicide cases like *Mercer* is whether an exception to the suicide bar applies, so the burden remains with the claimant. Opinion at ¶ 27. And in *Stafford*, the appellate court concluded that the Legislature intended to depart from the general rule that one asserting a general statutory limitation (like the Department here) bears the burden of proof because that (different) statute's statement of legislative intent left the burden with the claimant. Opinion at ¶ 21. No such legislative intent exists here. *Id*.

B. No "uncertainty" arises from placing the burden of proof on the party asserting a general statutory limitation.

Contrary to the Department's claims at Petition 16-18, no "uncertainty" arises from placing the burden of proof on the Department here. As noted immediately above, it is black letter law that the party asserting a general statutory limitation bears the burden of proof. And this Court should not consider the Department's erroneous claim that the felony-payment-bar statute "is a specialized type of course of employment statute," both because it was never raised below and because the statute says no such thing. Simply put, the burden of proof in this case is not an issue of substantial public

interest because the Court of Appeals – like every other tribunal in this case – correctly applied black letter law.

C. The clear, cogent, and convincing standard of proof is both appropriate and extremely well established.

Here too, the trial and appellate courts simply applied black letter law in deferring to the Board's policy decision to impose a clear, cogent, and convincing standard of proof. See Opinion at ¶¶ 22-28. This punitive statute imposes substantial stigma and economic punishment on workers who are otherwise entitled to receive benefits. *Id.* at ¶ 24. The heightened standard simply recognizes that these punishments require greater protections for workers. The appellate court properly affirmed, and there is no Supreme Court authority to the contrary. The Court should deny review.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, the Court should deny review. RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 8th day of April, 2015.

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.

Kenneth/W. Masters, WSBA 22278 241 Madison Ave. North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033